
 

 

 
 

 

Meeting papers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment and Communities  
Scrutiny Committee 

 
Wednesday 4 November 2015 at 10.00 am 

 
Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

 



 

 

 
 



 

 

Date Published:3 November 2015       

 

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

 

Wednesday 4 November 2015 at 10.00 am 

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

AGENDA 

 

   

   

1 APOLOGIES  
 

To note any apologies for absence. 
 

Jo Moore 
 

2 MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 
2015. 
 

Jo Moore 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

To record any declarations of interest. Please refer to note (a) at the end 
of the agenda. 
 

Jo Moore 
 

4 SUMMARY OF ACTIONS  
 

To update members on the actions from the meeting on 14 September 
2015. 
 
The committee to note the following updates:  
 

a) Canal and River Trust – a statement from Severn Voice was 
circulated to members on 22 October 2015;  
 

b) The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Annual Progress and 
Implementation Plan was circulated to members for comment on 
30 September 2015.  
 

c) Tidal Lagoon Presentation – Gloucestershire County Council to 
host a briefing for County Councillors, District Councils and 
representatives from neighbouring authorities in the Council 

Jo Moore 
 



 

 

     

 

   

Chamber at Shire Hall, Gloucester from 2.00 to 4.00 pm on 
Wednesday 4 November 2015. (The afternoon of the scrutiny 
committee meeting). The aim of the briefing will be to assist 
attendees better understand the potential benefits and impacts of 
Tidal Lagoon Power for Gloucestershire. 
 

d) Highways Seminar – the Highways Development Member Team to 
host an interactive seminar to enable members better understand 
current changes to planning legislation, and how Gloucestershire 
County Council undertakes its statutory consultee role as Highway 
Authority in relation to planning applications. The seminar will be 
held in the Council Chamber at Shire Hall, Gloucester from 2.00 to 
4.00 pm on Monday 30 November 2015. 
 

e) Information relating to the number of outstanding ‘Definitive Map 
Modification Order Applications’ is reported at item 2.14 of the 
Commissioning Directors Report.  
 

5 WASTE PRESENTATION  
 

Tony Childs from the Joint Waste Team to give an update on the waste 
recycling targets for Gloucestershire. 
   

Tony Childs 
 

6 CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 11 - 16) 
 

The committee to note a report from the Chief Fire Officer, detailing 
information on the portfolio of services provided by the Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council. 
(Report attached).  
 

Stewart Edgar 
 

7 COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT (Pages 17 - 30) 
 

The Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure to update 
the committee on current issues. (Report attached). 
 

Nigel Riglar 
 

8 MOTION FROM FULL COUNCIL  
 

To consider the following motion, referred to this committee by full Council 
on 23 October 2015.   
 
Motion 756 – Fracking  
 
Proposed by Cllr Barry Kirby  
Seconded by Cllr Lesley Williams  
  
This Council believes that climate change is real and that it is a serious 
problem that affects our communities. We note fracking (hydraulic 
fracturing for shale gas) adds to climate change.  
 
This Council further notes the recent protests against shale gas drilling 
outside Shire Hall. 
 
 

Chairman 
 



 

 

     

 

   

This Council notes there are areas now available in Gloucestershire 
particularly the Forest of Dean for fracking. This Council also recognises 
the instability of the geology in the Forest of Dean. Furthermore this 
Council acknowledges that the process poses a significant risk to the local 
environment due to the unknown and commercially hidden information 
about the extraction process.  
 
This Council resolves to write to the Secretary of State to remove the 
licensing areas within Gloucestershire with immediate effect.  
 

9 WORK PLAN (Pages 31 - 32) 
 

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for consideration at 
future meetings.  
 

a) The committee to consider a one page strategy submitted by Cllrs 
Paul Hodgkinson and Nigel Moor requesting a scrutiny review of 
safety and congestion issues on the A429 Fosse Way.  
 

b) The committee to note the outcome of the motion from full council 
on 23 October 2015 (considered at item 8 of the agenda).   
 

Chairman 
 

10 FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

13 January 2016 
9 March 2016 
18 May 2016 
13 July 2016 
21 September 2016 
22 November 2016 
 

Chairman 
 

Membership –  Cllr Robert Bird (Chairman), Cllr Tony Blackburn, Cllr Dr John Cordwell, 
Cllr Iain Dobie, Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, Cllr Sarah Lunnon, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr Graham Morgan and 
Cllr Stan Waddington  
 

 (a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns �01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting. 

 (b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Joanne Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser  
�:01452 425005/fax: 425850/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 (c) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS 
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list. 
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 88 of 

the Constitution). 
 
 
 



 

 

     

 

   

 
(d) 

 
PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.   
Please contact Democratic Services (Tel: 01452 425230) to make the necessary 
arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to  
be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the  
meeting.   
 

 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions. 

 



 

- 1 - 

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Monday 14 September 2015 at Shire Hall, Gloucester.  

 
 

PRESENT:  

 Cllr Robert Bird 
(Chairman) 
Cllr Tony Blackburn 
Cllr Dr John Cordwell 
Cllr Iain Dobie 
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 
 

Cllr Sarah Lunnon 
Cllr Nigel Moor 
Cllr Graham Morgan 
Cllr Stan Waddington 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 
There were no apologies at the meeting.  
 

2. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 July 2015 were agreed and signed as an 
accurate record of that meeting. 
 
Members noted that the date of the next Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee was 24 September 2015.  
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Cllr Stan Waddington declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 6 of the agenda, 
(Canal and River Trust Presentation), as the owner of a canal narrow boat.  
 

4. ACTIONS  
 
Members received a short update on the actions taken since the last meeting.   
 
Key actions included: -  
 

a) It was noted that a letter had been sent to Gloucestershire MP’s, seeking 
their support to urge BT to undertake a review of areas that might be eligible 
for new investment. The letter was issued on 14 August 2015, for which 
copies had been circulated with the agenda. 
 

b) Members received an update on the ‘Access to and from the Forest of Dean’ 
Task Group.  They were informed that the task group had met for the first 
time on 28 July 2015, followed by a second meeting on 15 September 2015, 
at which members had considered information on the lifespan of the River 
Severn Road Crossings, including the future tolling arrangements of both 
bridges, post 2018. During the meeting, Chris Pope from Highways England 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 2 - 
 

presented information on the measures that had been put in place to 
maintain the safety of both crossings. An outcome of the meeting was that 
the task group would utilise the Forest of Dean extract of the 
‘Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan Consultation Document 2015-31’, 
(published in March 2015), to continue its review of issues affecting access 
to and from the Forest of Dean. The task group to meet again in November 
2015.  

 
5. FASTERSHIRE BROADBAND PRESENTATION  

 
Dawn Thompson (GCC Communications Team) and Matt Smith (Fastershire 
Operations Manager), gave an update on issues relating to the Superfast 
Broadband Project. The update included information on the current position of the 
BT Contract and the work by private investor, Gigaclear, to provide ‘Fibre to 
Premises’ to 6,500 premises in the Cotswolds District by 2017.  
 
Responding to member’s concerns about installation delays and poor 
communication to residents in areas where fibre broadband/cabinets had been 
sited, but no further action taken, the Fastershire Broadband Team suggested 
members refer to the Fastershire Broadband website www.fastershire.com as a key 
point of communication, and to advise the constituents within their divisions to 
register personal interests on the website in order to receive regular updates and 
newsletters. Members were informed that the website was updated on a weekly 
basis.  
 
Acknowledging that there had been a glitch in the automated process for 
connecting broadband to premises in some rural locations, members were advised 
to email the Fastershire Project Team for updates on specific issues.  
 
The full presentation can be viewed at the following link: -  
 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s26563/Fastershire%20Scrutiny%
20Presentation%20-%2014%20Sep%202015.pdf  
 
 
 

6. CANAL AND RIVER TRUST PRESENTATION  
 
Following a request from local member, Cllr Tony Blackburn, to consider proposals 
to introduce automated bridge controls along the Gloucester and Sharpness Canal, 
the committee received a presentation from Nick Worthington, Waterways Manager 
at the Gloucestershire Canal and River Trust, (South Wales and Severn 
Waterways). Members noted the outcomes of a recent consultation on the 
proposals and were advised to consider the following publication as background 
information: -    
 
https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/gloucester-and-sharpness-canal-bridges  
 
The outcomes of the public consultation can be viewed at the following link:  
 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 3 - 
 

https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/media/library/11855-g-and-s-bridges-consultation-
report.pdf   
 
During the meeting, representatives from Longney and Epney Parish Council; 
Elmore Parish Council and Arlingham Parish Council were invited to express 
individual concerns about the impact of the proposals, culminating in a request from 
Cllr Blackburn for ‘Severn Voice’ to make a detailed presentation to the committee 
at its next meeting. The majority of members felt this was un-necessary, but agreed 
to consider the outcomes of the Sandfield Bridge Trial at a later date. The 
committee also agreed to circulate a statement from Severn Voice, expressing its 
concerns, after the meeting. 
 
The concerns highlighted at the meeting included: -  
 

a) The impact of remote control operated bridges on traffic congestion/local 
businesses/tourism/pupils attending local schools and emergency response 
vehicles;  
 

b) Potential increase in the number of unforeseen safety hazards and incidents;  
 

c) Removal of health and safety assurances, currently provided by bridge 
operators;  
 

d) Increased number of bridge swings;   
 

e) Limitations of the existing infrastructure, combined with a rapidly increasing 
number of boats and vehicles;  
 

f)  Potential conflict between road and boat users;  
 

g) Remoteness and lack of security at automated bridges. 
 

Members were assured that full consideration would be given to the proposals, 
including confirmation that the Canal and River Trust would be engaging in an 
extended period of consultation. Furthermore, each road bridge would receive the 
support of a bespoke ‘Advisory Group’ from which to monitor and evaluate progress 
during the period of transition. Reiterating his concerns, Cllr Blackburn agreed to 
await the outcomes of the Sandfield Bridge Trial.   
 
Full details of the presentation can be viewed at the following link: - 
 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s26564/Remote%20Controlled%2
0Bridges%20GCC%20Presentation%20-%20140915.pdf  
 

7. COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT  
 
Full details of the Commissioning Directors Report, including an update on the 
Government’s Department of Energy and Climate Change Consultation Process on 
onshore oil and gas exploration, can be viewed at the following link: 
 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 4 - 
 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=7857&
Ver=4  
 
In noting the report, members were informed that the Department of Energy and 
Climate Change (DECC) was currently undertaking a consultation process, (ending 
on 29 September 2015), regarding the decision to allow companies to seek licences 
from which to explore onshore oil and gas. It was noted that this was very much a 
DECC led consultation. 
 
Following on from the consultation, if licences were to be issued in Gloucestershire, 
Gloucestershire County Council, as the Local Mineral Planning Authority, would be 
responsible for determining applications for planning permission to explore or 
extract energy minerals within its administrative boundary. It was pointed out that 
the applicant would also need to obtain environmental permits from other 
regulators, including the Environment Agency, and would be subject to inspection 
from the Health and Safety Executive. At the timing of publication of the 
Commissioning Director’s Report, the council had not received any notification or 
details of potential licence applications for Gloucestershire. 
 
Members were advised that, at this present time, there was no council policy on 
‘fracking’. The ‘policy starting point’ for any planning application regarding mineral 
extraction, would be the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan 1997-2006, adopted 
by the County Council in 2003. It was noted that the council was currently in the 
process of reviewing the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire, which would be 
considered for adoption in 2017. Further updates to be provided as part of the 
Commissioning Directors Report at this meeting.  
 
Responding to member concerns, officers confirmed that, as the Local Mineral 
Planning Authority, Gloucestershire County Council would be submitting a response 
to the government consultation, due to end on 29 September 2015. Members were 
advised that, they too, could make a submission to the consultation. It was later 
suggested that an information session on mineral extraction/onshore oil and gas 
exploration might be something the committee may wish to consider at a future 
date.  
 
During the discussion, members raised questions on a number of topics, including: 
the public transport consultation undertaken in the Southeast/East Cotswolds 
District; the A417 Missing Link Commitment; the Highways Local Scheme, and the 
Commons and Rights of Way Committee.  
 
In response to questions, the following actions were agreed:  
 

a) Tidal Lagoon Presentation – Gloucestershire County Council to host a 
briefing for County Councillors, District Councils and neighbouring 
authorities, the aim of which would be to aid understanding of the potential 
benefits and impacts of Tidal Lagoon Power for Gloucestershire.  
 

b) Highways Seminar – the Highways Development Member Team to host a 
seminar to assist members better understand current changes to planning 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 5 - 
 

legislation, and how Gloucestershire County Council undertook its statutory 
consultee role as Highway Authority in relation to planning applications.  
 

c) Information relating to the number of outstanding ‘Definitive Map Modification 
Order Applications’ to be included in the Commissioning Directors Update 
report to this committee.  
 

d) Members requested careful monitoring of the council’s winter service plan.  
 

e) Noting the potential overlap in reporting/providing updates on the Fastershire 
Broadband Project to this, and the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 
Scrutiny Committee, it was agreed that all future reports would be 
administered/presented to the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee, with 
invitations to the members of this committee to meetings.   
 

The report, including the Environment and Communities Scorecard for Quarter 1 
2015/16, was noted.  
 

8. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT  
 
Full details of the Chief Fire Officer Report, can be viewed at the following link:  
 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=7857&
Ver=4  
 
Members noted information on the performance of the portfolio of services provided 
by the Chief Fire Officer on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council. In presenting 
the report, the Deputy Chief Fire Officer reminded members that a Scrutiny Fire 
Workshop would be held later that day, for members to consider key issues 
affecting the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service.  
 
The objectives of the workshop would be to: -  
 

1) Consider what effective scrutiny looks like;  
 

2) Review the current practice of Fire Scrutiny at Gloucestershire County 
Council;   

 
3) Consider key national and local policy issues for Fire Services in the 

medium and longer term;   
 

4) Explore and agree how scrutiny can aid policy making and service 
planning.  

 
Anne Brinkhoff from the Local Government Association and Ed Hammond from the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny facilitated at the meeting, with contributions from Andy 
Hermiston (Deputy Chief Fire Officer), Dave Hornibrook and Carole Pittaway from 
the Gloucestershire Fire Service. The workshop was well attended and had resulted 
in several positive outcomes.  
 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting 

 
 

- 6 - 
 

Please refer to the attached summary of outcomes and actions for details of the 
workshop.  
 

9. WORK PLAN  
 
Following consideration of the i) Chief Fire Officer’s Report and the ii) 
Commissioning Director’s Report, it was agreed that the following items would be 
added to the committee work plan: - i) Presentation from the Gloucestershire Joint 
Waste Team on improving waste recycling targets for Gloucestershire at the 4 
November 2015 meeting, and ii) consideration of the outcomes from the Local 
Transport Plan Review 3 consultation at the 13 January 2016 meeting.  
 
It was also agreed that copies of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
Annual Progress and Implementation Plan would be circulated to members, 
(seeking comments), by email. The updated plan to be published on the council 
website in October or November 2015.   
 
Following a request for a task group review on congestion and road safety issues 
on the A429 Fosse Way highway, it was agreed Cllrs Paul Hodgkinson and Nigel 
Moor would meet with officers outside of the meeting to consider an  appropriate 
course of action. Members were advised that terms of reference, (in the form of a 
one page strategy), for scrutiny task group reviews had to be agreed by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee. As a form of ‘best practice’ it had 
been suggested members seek the committee’s input before submitting a request 
for a task group review. Having considered the request for a task group review on 
the A429 Fosse Way, members supported the suggestion that officers work with 
Cllrs Hodgkinson  and Moor on the issue. 
 

10. FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
2015  
4 November 2015 
 
2016 
13 January 2016 
9 March 2016 
18 May 2016 
13 July 2016 
21 September 2016 
22 November 2016 
 
 

 
CHAIRPERSON 

 
 
 

 
Meeting concluded at 13.15 pm 

 

Page 6



FIRE SCRUTINY WORKSHOP 

MONDAY 14 SEPTEMBER 2015 

A Fire Scrutiny Workshop, developed by Anne Brinkhoff from the Local Government 

Association, and facilitated by Ed Hammond from the Centre for Public Scrutiny, was 

held for members of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee, as well 

as members with an interest in Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, on Monday 

14th September 2015. Andy Hermiston, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, Dave Hornibrook, 

and Carole Pittaway from Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service also attended 

and contributed to the workshop. 

Objectives 

The workshop, entitled ‘Using effective scrutiny to work together for a safer 

Gloucestershire’, aimed to: 

• Consider what effective scrutiny looks like 

• Review the current practice of fire scrutiny at GCC and whether it creates as 

much impact as it could 

• Consider the key national and local policy issues for fire services over the 

medium and long term 

• Explore and agree how scrutiny can aid policy making and service planning 

Gloucestershire’s Scrutiny Principles 

Following a welcome by Councillor Rob Bird, Chair of the Environment and 

Communities Scrutiny Committee, and an introduction to the workshop objectives, 

Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services at GCC, provided an overview of 

Gloucestershire’s scrutiny principles. 

Highlighting several pivotal examples of scrutiny at GCC, including the Planning and 

Flood Risk Task Group, which was established following the 2007 floods in 

Gloucestershire, Simon explained that GCC’s principles of good scrutiny were: 

• A clear public demand for action 

• A real opportunity to influence 

• A narrow and deep approach  

• A flexible approach. 

High Impact Overview and Scrutiny 

Ed Hammond, from the Centre for Public Scrutiny, discussed three key principles for 

high impact overview and scrutiny: 

1. Culture 

2. Perspective 

Page 7



3. Focus 

Ed explained the importance of developing a culture for scrutiny which is open and 

positive that engages, as well as challenges decision makers, and which highlights 

communication with the public. 

He continued to determine that as councillors are elected, they bring a unique 

perspective to scrutiny, in terms of what issues are scrutinised and what questions 

are asked, particularly as they have the opportunity to convey the perspective of the 

public. 

Finally, the importance of having a clear focus for scrutiny, and of being self-critical 

about how and where scrutiny can add value, was emphasised. In order for this to be 

achieved, there should be effective scoping of issues and relevant information and 

evidence should be referred to. 

Overview: Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 

Andy Hermiston, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, GFRS, provided members with an 

overview of the responsibilities, organisation and challenges of the Service. He 

emphasised that GFRS was a community centred safety organisation, and that 

scrutiny played an important supporting role to the Service, as councillors have a 

unique perspective and understanding of the community. The important relationship 

between GFRS and GCC was also highlighted. 

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer explained that in order to achieve the highest standard 

of community safety and emergency response services to the communities of 

Gloucestershire, GFRS had four aims: 

• Prevention and protection: working with local communities to reduce risks to 

life, property and the environment from fire and other emergencies 

• Response and resilience: respond promptly and effectively to fires and other 

emergencies 

• People: ensure the services provided by GFRS are delivered by a 

professional and skilled workforce, which is able to work safely and whose 

composition reflects the diversity of the community 

• Performance: Monitoring of performance to ensure continual improvement 

and value for money 

Members were informed that the Service was focussing increasingly on prevention 

and that in Gloucestershire, as a result of these aims, there were 63% less fires now 

than 10 years ago, and 20 less casualties every year.  

The Deputy Chief Fire Officer continued to determine the future challenges that 

GFRS faced. These could include devolution, changing demographics, and 

maintaining the ethnicity and gender balance. 

Page 8



Following the presentation, members were given the opportunity to discuss, with the 

support of the fire officers, several key questions relating to current fire scrutiny 

practice, including: 

• Do members have the right information to undertake their scrutiny role? 

• What is GCC already doing well? 

• Has the introduction of a Chief Fire Officer’s report been of value? 

Members explored the need to triangulate information that is presented to scrutiny 

with other sources, including visits to fire stations and briefings. It was also 

appreciated that by developing member knowledge and understanding, challenge 

will be more informed and more focused. 

Members recognised the advantages of GFRS being part of GCC that enabled 

strong links to public health, trading standards and highways. Additionally, members 

welcomed the attendance of the Chief Fire Officer, Stewart Edgar, at the meetings of 

the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee, and the opportunity this 

created in terms of a ‘springboard for discussion’. 

Further discussions indicated that members value the performance report of the 

Chief Fire Officer provided to the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 

Committee; however there was a suggestion that the narrative could be more 

reflective in tone and could highlight concerns as well as achievements. There was 

an understanding that the role of scrutiny is one of constructive challenge as 

opposed to ‘finding fault’. 

Effective Scrutiny – Looking Forward 

Dave Hornibrook, Area Manager Strategy, Planning and Performance, GFRS, gave 

a presentation to members on the key opportunities and challenges for the next 3 

years, as outlined in the Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 2015-2018. He 

introduced the document by explaining that it provides an assessment of local risks 

to life, considers how effectively resources are used in response to those risks, and 

demonstrates how GFRS would provide value for money.  

In the first year of the IRMP’s implementation, there has been a fundamental review 

of operational response, the development of risk based response targets, and the 

development of a demand management service delivery model. In the second and 

third years of the IRMP, there would be the implementation of the outcomes of the 

operational response review, a consideration of technological solutions, and greater 

use of retained and community fire fighters to build resilience. 

There was a further opportunity for members to debate and share their views in 

relation to several questions about scrutiny in the future: 

• How can scrutiny add value in exploring future opportunities and managing 

future challenges for the Service (and the County Council as a whole)? 

Page 9



• Are there any specific topics that need to be scrutinised? How could this be 

done best? 

• How can we maximise member engagement in effective scrutiny? 

 
Members expressed their concerns of not knowing about issues and of being ‘caught 

out’ and there was an understanding that officers should be aware of these 

concerns, and that it was important to find the right time and place to share concerns 

early on. Additionally, there was an appreciation that the preparation of the IRMP 

has a long lead in time and therefore it would be important to ensure members have 

an understanding of it in the developing stages, both informally and formally. 

 

Members also expressed an interest in using a variety of approaches to scrutiny, in 

addition to task groups, building on the good practice that already exists. This could 

include the visiting of local fire stations to understand the day to day business of 

GFRS and having informal conversations with officers. This could be a key way to 

build up explicit and tacit knowledge. 

 
 

Outcomes 

The workshop proved useful as it recognised the important relationship between 

GFRS and GCC, as well as the role scrutiny has in supporting the operation and 

development of GFRS. The opportunity created by Anne Brinkhoff and Ed Hammond 

for members to reflect on current good fire scrutiny practice and consider future 

approaches to scrutiny was appreciated, and several important conclusions were 

reached: 

• The relationship between GFRS and GCC provides many advantages 

• The attendance of the Chief Fire Officer and presentation of a Chief Fire 

Officer’s Report to the meetings of the Environment and Communities 

Scrutiny Committee was appreciated, however the report could highlight 

concerns in addition to achievements 

• Any concerns or issues by officers should be shared with members as 

appropriate 

• The role of scrutiny is of constructive challenge, and a variety of approaches 

to scrutiny could be embraced in addition to the use of task groups, such as 

visits to fire stations  

• Scrutiny is not restricted to formal meetings, and members could use a variety 

of sources of information to develop knowledge and understanding. 

 

Laura Gibbard  

September 2015 

 

Page 10



1 
 

 

 
 

 

Report to Scrutiny Committee  

 

 
Title:  
 

 
Chief Fire Officer Report 

 
Committee: 

 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee  
 

 
Date:  

 
4 November  2015 
 

 
Chairman: 

 
Councillor Rob Bird  
 

 
Presenting  Officer: 

 
Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer and Operations Director 
 

 
Purpose:  

To provide the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee with an update on the performance of the 
portfolio of services provided by the Chief Fire Officer on 
behalf of Gloucestershire County Council. 

Detailed performance information is provided separately as part 
of the Quarterly Monitoring Report. 
 

 
Background 
documents: 
 

 
None  

 
Appendices:  
 
 
 

 
None 

 
Recommendations:  
 
 
 

 
To note the content of the report. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 11



2 
 

1. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
 

1.1 Response & Resilience 

Bakers Quay Fire 

A large fire in Bakers Quay, Gloucester was dealt with effectively and efficiently using crews from across 
the county. This incident generated significant public interest and was widely reported in the press across 
the county. Worthy of note is that prior to the incident Fire had worked with Police to undertake arson 
audits in the area due to a spate of low level arson activity. The work the Service had undertaken helped 
establish that the incident was a deliberately set fire and subsequently two arrests were made. 

False Alarm Automatic Fire Alarms  

The impact of our policy changes is beginning to have a significant impact in this important area of our 
work.  In September 2014 we attended 167 false alarms caused by automatic fire alarms.  Following the 
implementation of the new policy this number has reduced and in September 2015 we only attended 87 
false alarms caused by automatic fire alarms a reduction of 50%.  By reducing the number of false alarms 
we are attending it is allowing us to focus our resources into more productive areas of work and to reduce 
the risk in the community by reducing emergency vehicle movements. 

Fleet Management 

Our new Fleet and Equipment Manager has now joined us with extensive experience of fleet 
management in the private sector and has already set to work on improving efficiencies and economies 
within GFRS workshops and examining ways of increasing capacity and resilience within the team. This 
now gives us the opportunity to examine possible synergies between GFRS fleet, workshops and 
transport operations at GCC. We have already begun working closely with the Integrated Transport Unit 
to examine opportunities for collaboration, improved efficiency and greater utilisation of GFRS workshops 
for the benefit of the wider GCC fleet. 

 

1.2 Prevention and Protection 

The demand management approach to our prevention and protection work continues to evolve. The fire 
safety sub-group of the Adult Safeguarding Board is continuing to grow with more partner agencies 
joining the group and contributing to the overall strategy and action plan. 

Retained Firefighters as Telecare Responders 

A formal agreement has been made between Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service (GFRS) and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group to extend this service to all rural areas in the county by the end of 
November 2015. The training for firefighters is underway and planned for completion in the next three 
weeks.  It is important to note that GFRS has been shortlisted for the ‘Innovation of the Year Award’ for 
this work at the national Fire Awards. The winner will be announced in December 2015. 

PHE Winter Pressures Trial 

Gloucestershire has been selected as one of only three fire and rescue services to take part in the trial 
funded by Public Health England to develop firefighters on all aspects of a Safe and Well visit for anyone 
over 65 years of age to cover: 

• Falls prevention 

• Social isolation 

• Cold homes 

• Flu vaccinations 
The training package has been designed and agreed with all partners. The role out will take place 
throughout November with firefighters commencing the work immediately following the input.  

This is a significant project that will evaluate and quantify the financial and social benefits that the 
prevention and protection work of the fire and rescue service is able to deliver. 

Page 12



3 
 

 

1.3 IRMP 2015-18 

Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 2015-2018 was 
developed and subsequently approved by Cabinet on 15 April 2015. 

A key objective for year 1 in the IRMP was to undertake a fundamental review of operational response 
across Gloucestershire. The review has now been completed and the resulting proposals are intended to 
ensure GFRS resources meet both risk and demand profiles.  

The review has undergone an external, independent analysis and verification of GFRS data (taken from 
the last five years), with bespoke modelling work undertaken to provide a sound evidence base against 
which professional judgement can be made to inform decisions on future adjustments to the Service. 

The resulting proposals to enhance the service provided to the community has been further scrutinised 
independently by a Fire Sector expert who has reviewed the methodology and outcomes of the review 
including the modelling of risk. 

The consultation commenced on 1 October 2015 and runs until 4 January 2016. There is full information 
regarding the proposals online and the methodology including the data used to identify proposals. There 
are seven consultation events planned at which the community can discover more about what we do and 
the future of their Fire and Rescue Service.  
 
Subsequent to the consultation closing, it is the intention of the Chief Fire Officer to include an update for 
scrutinising by this committee in early 2016. 
 

 
2. Road Safety Partnership  

 Improving the safety of older drivers 

The RSP have been proactive in this area as part of this work developed the Safer Driving with Age 
(SAGE) Scheme, a self-financing screening process that is available for drivers of all ages in the county.  
SAGE considers all of the aspects that are likely to cause deterioration in the safety of the older driver, 
such as eyesight, medication, health (mental & physical) and also the ability to cope safely behind the 
wheel.  It is a personal and confidential service that aims to support an individual’s safety that will also 
maintain their independence and freedom. 

The number of drivers going through the SAGE scheme is increasing and up to September 2015, 114 
older had completed SAGE, more than the total number of clients during the whole of 2014.   

The RSP has presented SAGE on the national and international stage, including to the UK Parliamentary 
Advisory Committee and at the World’s Driver Training Conference, and has featured in several TV 
documentaries. SAGE has been replicated by several other local authorities across the country and was 
specifically mentioned in the Government’s Strategic Framework for Road Safety: 

Recently, the Partnership has taken part in a DfT initiated review of the processes and procedures that 
are in place to support the needs of older drivers and hosted a 3 day visit by a delegation from Aberdeen 
looking to introduce SAGE to Scotland.   In October the RSP met with the Outcomes Manager from 
Public Health to explore collaborative ways of promoting SAGE across the county.  The RSP will continue 
to develop and promote activities and services that will improve the safety of older road users, and those 
who share the roads with them. 

Sociable Driving Campaign 

The Partnership is currently working on a campaign to promote and encourage all drivers who live, work 
and travel through Gloucestershire to become sociable drivers as well as safe ones.  This will be a long 
term campaign which will expand beyond drivers as the ethos of safe and sociable road use underpins 
what the Partnership is always striving to achieve.  We would like all drivers to manage their risks based 
on informed choices. The campaign will provide information as to what “good choices” are to encourage 
and motivate safe and social driving.  

Page 13



4 
 

3. Civil Protection / Emergency Planning 

The Civil Protection Team (CPT) has recently assisted in the “Gloucestershire Airport” exercise which 
tested all local responders and lessons learned proved to be extremely valuable.  CPT is now working on 
the development of a GCC Coordination Team training event, to provide training on wide area flooding, 
multi agency working and joint working with District Councils. The Team has already started work with 
partners on preparations for the Royal International Air Tattoo which will be held at RAF Fairford in July 
2016. A key planning theme for next year’s event will be humanitarian assistance. 

4. Business Continuity Management (BCM) 

Progress continues regarding the implementation and use of the standardised BCM Plan Templates 
across all business areas within GCC.  Through the collation of the completed BCM plans a clear ‘Critical 
Services List’ and an ‘ICT Critical Service List’ is being compiled.  When complete this will be included in 
the council’s Corporate Recovery Arrangements. 

5. Registration & Coroner Services 

Registration Services continues to manage high demand, particularly for ceremonies. The Service has 
been piloting a new initiative which is run in partnership with the Home Office and local authorities. It is to 
check passport application forms for those people who are using our nationality checking service. 
Gloucestershire is one of 4 local authorities involved in the pilot. So far it has been a real success with 
83% of people using NCS taking up the offer to have their passport application checked.  

Coroner Services business continues and the number of cases remain constant. Consultation has just 
started on the impacts of the Coroners and Justice Act which was implemented 18 months ago. 

6. Trading Standards 

 
The Consumer Rights Act came into force on 1 October 2015, and has been described as the 'biggest 
overhaul of consumer rights in a generation’. The Act is a major part of the government’s reform of UK 
consumer law, streamlining complicated law from eight pieces of legislation into one place. It sets out 
clear and updated consumer rights for goods, services and, for the first time, digital content including 
mobile phone apps, computer games and software, films, books and music. 
 
The changes aim to bring greater clarity to the law and help both businesses and consumers by making it 
clear what their rights and responsibilities are in any particular circumstance. The chartered Institute of 
Trading Standards (CTSI) created a series of helpful guides on the changes to the law for both 
consumers and businesses and these are available to access on our website glos.tradingstandards.uk. 
 
Animal Health case 
 
On the 5 October 2015 a keeper of sheep, was found guilty at Cheltenham Magistrates Court for failing 
to register and record movements of sheep correctly, in breach of animal health legislation. Legislation 
exists to control the registration and movement of animals to ensure that all livestock can be identified 
and located if a disease outbreak amongst livestock occurs. 
 
Enquiries made by Gloucestershire County Council’s Trading Standards Service showed that he had 
failed to correctly register the premises where he kept sheep, failed to identify sheep and failed to report 
movements onto and off holdings, despite being advised on numerous occasions to do so and assisted 
by officers in completing the necessary forms for registration of holding premises with the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs Animal & Plant Health Agency (APHA).  He pleaded guilty to six 
charges and asked to pay a total of £1,070 in fines and costs. 
 

Page 14



5 
 

 
Rogue trader work 
 
On the 6 October 2015 Trading Standards officers, working with Gloucestershire Police and Cotswold 
District Council, carried out spot checks across the county for rogue traders who could be targeting 
vulnerable people following up a number of concerns recently raised by local residents.  
 
Rogue trading activities identified in the past include traders who canvas door to door offering services 
such as driveway repairs, roof repairs and cleaning, garden clearing or tree pruning, fascia board and 
gutter replacement. They often claim they are working in the area just for the day, offer a bargain price, 
and say they can carry out the work immediately or the next day; often the work undertaken is overpriced 
and of poor quality and sometimes vulnerable people are intimidated into paying inflated prices. 
 
As well as visiting builders’ merchants, officers went to people’s homes where work was being carried 
out. They also spoke to residents who had experienced problems with a business previously but had not 
reported these problems at the time. Officers will now provide further advice and support to these people. 
Although they did not encounter any rogue traders during these spot checks, they gained valuable 
information and intelligence 
 
On the 30 September 2015 a Gloucestershire resident who had traded as “Ringway Traffic 
Management”, “Traffic Management Solutions” and “Highway Safety Link”, was sentenced at Bristol 
Crown Court to 16 months imprisonment for fraudulent trading contrary to Section 9 of the Fraud Act 
2006. 
 
The individual’s mode of operation was to cold call on businesses and offer a price per metre or foot for 
marking white lines in car parks, falsely claiming that he was working on behalf of the local authority 
Highways and that he had been working on roads nearby with paint left over. Sometimes he would tell the 
business that there was a legal requirement to have certain work done. Once the work was completed, 
which was invariably of a poor quality and quite often involved more work than had been authorised, a 
demand was made for a grossly inflated bill. 
 
Gloucestershire Trading Standards Service undertook initial investigations into the individual in 2010 and 
having found that the trader’s illegal activities spanned the country, including Cheshire, Derbyshire, 
Essex, Gloucestershire, Humberside, Kent, Sussex, Lancashire, Northamptonshire, Bedfordshire, 
Northumberland, London and Birmingham they referred the investigation to the National Trading 
Standards South West Scambusters Team. Scambusters continued the investigation which resulted in 
the individual pleading guilty in April 2014 for fraudulently trading between 2008 and 2012 across the 
country which saw 30 victims caught in a scam depriving churches, schools and charities of over 
£57,000. 
 
Illegal tobacco 
 
Also on the 6 October 2015 Trading Standards officers seized a large quantity of illegal tobacco from a 
Gloucester shop. The shop has a history of this kind of illegal activity with two previous convictions for 
offences under the Consumer Protection Act and Trademarks Act, one as recent as this year. The 
tobacco was concealed in a false wall protected by electromagnetic locks. The seized tobacco is thought 
to have a street value in excess of £3000.  
 

 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

Gloucestershire Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee   

 

 
Report Title: 
 

 
Commissioning Directors Report  

 
Meeting Date: 

 
4 November 2015 
 

 
Chairman: 

 
Councillor Rob Bird  
 

 
Purpose of Report: 

 
The committee to consider an update on current issues.  
 

 
Background 
documents: 
 

 
No background documents  
 

 
Recommendations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To note the report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
               

Agenda Item 7

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

4 November 2015 
 

Commissioning Director’s Report 
 
This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported. 

1 Cabinet Decisions 

1.1 Relevant Cabinet/ Cabinet Member/ Council decisions: 

• Post 16 Home to School Transport for Young People Accessing Mainstream 
Education (Cabinet, 30th September 2015) 

• Authorisation to Stroud District Council to execute, on behalf of the Local 
Highways Authority, highway works at Lodgemore Lane Bridge, Stroud (Cabinet 
Member – Highways and Flood, 9th October 2015) 

2 Highways Authority 

2.1 Gloucestershire Local Transport Board (GLTB, no change) 

• The Gloucestershire Local Transport Board (GLTB) was formed in 2013 with a 
remit to decide on major transport priorities between 2015 and April 2019.  In 
2014, the £9.8m Government allocation to the GLTB was subsumed into a ring-
fenced allocation within the Gloucestershire’s Growth Deal.  

• The last GLTB meeting took place on the 29th of July. The GLTB approved the 
Strategic Outline Business Case submissions for A40 Bus Priority, A40 Over 
Roundabout and Abbeymead/Metz Way Corridor schemes and allowed these 
schemes to proceed to the next stage of the business case development process. 
The GLTB approved the merger of the A40 Bus Priority and A40 Benhall 
Approach schemes and allowed the merged A40 Corridor Bus Priority scheme to 
move on to the next stage of the business case approval process. 

Scheme Name Current Estimated Contribution (£million) 

A40 Corridor Bus Priority 3.873 

A40 Over Roundabout and Highnam 
Lodge 

2.230 

Abbeymead/Metz Way Corridor, 
Gloucester 

0.500 

Cheltenham Spa Station 1.497 

The Gloucester Central Transport 
Hub 

1.700 

Total 9.800 

• The next GLTB meeting will be on the 12th of November 2015. 

2.2 Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), Transport Schemes (see section 6.1 for the 
overarching SEP update) (update) 

• The emerging Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Pipeline (IIP) is being 
developed by the County Council, Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and District 
Councils.  There are a number of transport and highways schemes within the IIP, 
which will provide the basis of future funding bids to the Growth fund and other 
funding opportunities.  Two of the previously submitted schemes, Gloucester City 
flood alleviation and cycle improvements, are included in this pipeline, albeit in the 
lowest priority group.  Further opportunities will arise to add further scheme to this 
list for subsequent bidding rounds. 

Page 19



2.3 Elmbridge – application to tender (update) 

• Park and ride scheme and A40 improvements; £19m scheme part funded by the 
DfT (£14.1m). 

• Planning permission has been granted and the Secretary of State has advised us 
they are not ‘calling in’ the decision. 

• Authorisation to proceed with Phase 1 procurement and making of the 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) associated with the Park & Ride was 
approved by Cabinet in 2014.  

• As agreed with the Lead Cabinet Member in April, the Lead Commissioner – 
Strategic Infrastructure sent a letter to DfT officials in which the request was made 
for Full Approval sign-off as soon after the May Parliamentary Elections as is 
practicably feasible.  In addition the Council has again reiterated the necessity to 
build the scheme in two phases to ensure acceleration of the programme (not 
waiting for the CPO to be resolved) 

• In lieu of Full Approval sign off from the DfT, the Council is ‘minded to award’ the 
construction contract for Phase 1 works to the preferred bidder (unable to fully 
award until DfT release funding).  The Council has established Terms & 
Conditions with the contractor to allow them to enter into Early Contractor 
Involvement with the Council to complete the detailed design works.  

• Current proposed Phase 1 construction start is Nov 2015. 

• Detailed submission with DfT is currently ongoing anticipating approval by end of 
December 2015.  

• A Lead Cabinet Member paper is being produced for November updating on all 
aspects of the scheme and DfT submission.   

2.4 Highways Contract (update) 

• Financial position 2015/16 – Amey commercial performance continues to improve 
and revenue and capital spending are in line with profiles and forecasts. Quarterly 
KPI results show good performance in almost all areas, particularly on safety 
defect repairs which are showing performance levels above target.  Delivery 
performance has steadily improved, particularly around the delivery of minor 
works, including Highways Local schemes.  Capital programme delivery over the 
summer has gone well with most planned works delivered.  As of the end of 
August Amey had delivered circa £21m of works and is on track to complete the 
remaining works in 3rd and 4th quarter. 

• Highways Local – At the start of the new financial year Amey had 64 highways 
local minor works schemes remaining to be delivered from 2014/15.  All of these 
schemes have now been delivered.  In addition, good progress on other 
contribution to capital highways local schemes and highways local improvement 
works has been made with a number of schemes delivered.  Members have 
engaged with Local Highways Managers and agreed Highways Local schemes 
for 2015/16 and these are currently being commissioned with Amey so as to 
enable sufficient time for planning and programme of works during the 3rd and 4th 
quarter.  Fifteen 15/16 Highways Local schemes have already been delivered.  

• Winter Service –The winter service plan for 2015/16 is going to Lead Cabinet for 
review and approval in November.  Salt stocks have been replenished and all 
vehicles and snow ploughs have undergone annual service and maintenance 
checks.  Amey staff have completed test runs and additional drivers have been 
trained.   

2.5 LED Street Lighting Project (update) 

• Skanska has been awarded the contract to convert c55,000 street lights to LED 
lighting and for the general maintenance of the Council's street lighting, lit signs 

Page 20



and bollards.  We are now in the contract mobilisation phase, with the 4-year core 
installation work to install the new LED lighting and remote dimming technology 
expected to begin in November.  Skanska staff will be moving into Quayside 
House in late October and will be co-located with GCC’s Street Lighting team.   

• SSE will continue to deliver the Street Lighting maintenance contract until March 
2016, when this will pass to Skanska. 

2.6 Cheltenham Transport Plan (update) 

• The revised Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) were reported to the Traffic 
Regulation Committee (TRC) on 15th January 2015.  The TRC recommended 
approval of the TROs for the changes to the one way system and recommended 
the restriction to general traffic at Boots Corner be made as an experimental 
TRO, with the impact of the scheme to be reported back to the TRC 10 months 
after implementation.  The scheme was reported to Cheltenham Borough Council 
on 26th January 2015 and the Borough Council confirmed their continued support 
for the scheme.  Cabinet deferred a decision on the TROs to allow consideration 
of the costs associated with an experimental order, the implementation plan and 
the assessment criteria/monitoring regime.  Cabinet considered the matter on 22 
July 2015 with the key recommendation being that the Boots Corner restriction 
elements form part of a phased implementation plan delivering the changes to the 
inner-ring road first. 

• Work is underway on designing the first phase, with construction planned to start 
Feb/Mar 2015. 

2.7 2015/16 Capital Programme (update) 

• A revised target of £35.5M is proposed for 2015/16.  This is made up as follows 
o Structural Maintenance, £22.5M 
o Integrated Transport, £3.0M (includes external contributions) 
o Growth Fund Schemes, £2.9M (includes Elmbridge Transport) 
o Miscellaneous and Non-Highway £7.2M (e.g. flood, alleviation, rural 

broadband, street lighting LED project, Highways Local etc) 

• We are on programme to spend to target, however we have had to trim back the 
structural maintenance programme to fit to available funds as additional funding 
that had been hoped for has not been forthcoming from Government.  This has 
meant that some schemes have had to be deferred to early 2016/17. 

2.8 Strategic Transport Modelling Access Protocol (update) 

• This protocol will govern access to the updated 2013 highways modelling suite. 
The Access protocol has been agreed.  It will be adopted through a delegated 
officer decision to coincide with the release of the 2013 Central Severn Vale 
model SATURN model in the new year. 

2.9 Local Transport Plan (LTP) 3 Review (update) 

• The draft LTP will be considered by Cabinet in November and subject to approval 
an 11-week public consultation will run from 20th November to 5th February 2016.  

• All stakeholders will be informed of the consultation and how they can get 
involved.  The consultation will be a web-based process with paper copies of the 
documents available at all libraries and man Council buildings. 

• The draft LTP will be considered by Scrutiny in January 2016 and the outcomes 
of the consultation will be presented to Scrutiny in March 2016. 

• Cabinet will consider the final LTP in May 2016 and subject to their endorsement 
the LTP will be considered by the County Council in June 2016. 

Page 21



2.10 A417 Missing Link (update) 

• Highways England (HE) is developing a programme of work to deliver the solution 
and meetings have taken place with the County Council and Cotswold 
Conservation Board.  WSP consultants have been commissioned by HE to aid 
the delivery of the scheme. Gloucestershire MPs met the Transport Minister 
Andrew Jones on 8th September to identify if and how the pace of work could be 
increased.  The latest position from HE (SW) is that they are aiming for 
construction to start in 2020. 

2.11 Lydney Station (update) 

• Terms and conditions have now been agreed between GCC and Network Rail 
regarding the lease on land to increase car parking capacity at the station.  
Discussions are ongoing regarding technical considerations such as lighting, 
fencing, access etc.  As part of the Lynden Station Travel Plan a cycle shelter for 
between 10 – 20 bikes will be installed at the station along with an information 
board.  

2.12 Cinderford Spine Road (update) 

• The Homes and Community Agency (HCA) has expressed an intention to remove 
themselves from the delivery of the Cinderford Spine Road.  It has been 
requested that the County Council takes on the project management and delivery.  
Officers are performing a due diligence exercise to ascertain what permissions, , 
legal agreements and work are required to complete the scheme; discussions are 
currently on going with the HCA and the Forest of Dean District Council.   

• Environmental works are nearing completion.  High Court Justice in London 
dismissed the application for judicial review from two of the objectors and the 
wording in the Judge’s summation was strongly in the favour of Forest of Dean 
District Council and HCA’s position.  However, the claimants are pursuing a 
further appeal. 

• Land exchange issue are now close to resolution.  HCA are currently revisiting 
the market with a revised tender documentation and are looking to award and 
novate a construction contract by the end of the calendar year. 

• LEP funding application is being submitted to bring forward the LEP funding into 
15/16 to allow for works to commence. 

2.13 Parking (update) 

• Issue with Signs and Lines defects relating to Parking – a small maintenance pilot 
scheme has been successful and the Parking Team are investigating the potential 
for a wider review in Gloucester and Cheltenham with a view to streamlining 
ongoing maintenance in the future.  This work is on-going and we are working 
with our contractor to complete the maintenance work agreed.  We have also 
carried out some audit checks of these sites and are working to remedy any 
outstanding issues. 

• North Cotswolds review, Moreton in Marsh – public meetings were held in July, 
with general consensus that improvements were needed on High Street, but 
limited support for a wider permit scheme.  The Town Council recently consulted 
regarding developing a new off-street car park, and the County Council’s Parking 
Team is meeting with them in November to decide a coherent way forward.  It is 
possible that no consensus can be achieved and that we end review work without 
putting forward any further proposals. 

• SE Cheltenham – a review is under way with informal consultation in July 2015.  
The County Council’s Parking Team is preparing to consult on a Traffic 
Regulation Order (TRO) in November 2015/January 2016.  The area around the 
railway is to be deferred to match the timeline for expansion of the station car 

Page 22



park.  The position has been agreed with the Cheltenham Development Task 
Force.  The County Council’s Local Members are in favour of the current position 
and consultation programme. 

• Legal Services are preparing a county-wide Off-Street parking place Order, which 
relates to parking on Gloucestershire County Council-owned land such as the 
Park and Ride sites and the car parks at Shire Hall.  Potential issues around the 
transfer of some countryside parks to outside ownership have been resolved. 

2.14 Commons and Rights of Way (CROW) Committee, Deregulation Act and the Rights 
of Way Reform Package (update for Gloucestershire Local Access Forum) 

• Legal Services and Highway Records continue to hold regular meetings to 
prepare ahead of the Deregulation Act coming into force.  The Act radically 
changes procedures for processing Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) 
applications and implements a 2026 deadline for claims based on historical 
evidence.   

• At the time of publishing this report, there were 122 outstanding Definitive Map 
Modification Order (DMMO) applications, of which: 28 had been ‘determined’ and 
awaiting the next stage of the application process; 38 were ‘undetermined’, and 
56 were ‘archived’, pending commencement of the relevant provisions of the 
Deregulation Act 2015, (anticipated after April 2016).  

• The new full-time technician started in August and the new full-time officer was in 
post in September; they replace two members of staff who have recently left.  
They will both be employed in processing DMMO applications.   

• Officers presented an application to the CROW Committee on 29th September 
2015 for determination (a further application was held over due to late submission 
of evidence). 

• It is anticipated that at least two applications will be taken to the CROW 
Committee for determination in December. 

• Officers continue to use alternative legal mechanisms to reduce the backlog of 
outstanding applications – an order has recently been confirmed using the 
compulsory powers contained within s.26 of the 1980 Highways Act. 

2.15 Cotswold Canal Trust (new item) 

• Bowbridge – awaiting final price details from Britannia Construction; the scheme 
looks to be very close to budget availability.  Construction planned to start before 
the end of 2015. 

• Phase 1b, lottery Heritage Fund bid – the proposed bid is to be submitted this 
financial year for £15m, match-funded with £5m of Canal Trust funding, made up 
from voluntary labour and cash.  The Council is part of the core group in assisting 
delivery and the bid.  A bid letter from the Council has been rewritten, which 
includes that Gloucestershire County Council will provide: 
o Promotion and advocacy around the benefits that the project will provide to the 

county 
o Cooperation in optimising Walk Bridge and A38 bridge designs 
o Provide support to achieve firm fixed prices for items designed on behalf of 

CCT 
o Help with cash-flow for the implementation of the above projects 
o Advice and practical support on: 

§ Archaeology 
§ Public Rights of Way 
§ Potential economic benefits 
§ Any other relevant county function 

Page 23



o Advice based on the Council’s experience in large-scale project management, 
on any aspect of the project as a whole. 

o To act as project lead where projects are within the Highway boundary. 

3 Transport Authority 

3.1 Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) 2015/16 (update) 

• Workplace Travel Planning - Support has been offered to Cheltenham Borough 
Council to create a Travel Plan.  This is on schedule to be completed by end of 
February.  As part of the work in the Forest of Dean, a Lydney locality map has 
been produced and is available via the Thinktravel website or in hard copy via 
one of the organised events.  The Stroud district cycling map has also been 
updated and reprinted.  Events have taken place to promote sustainable travel at 
a number of businesses and sites across the county including Gloucestershire 
Constabulary, Highnam business centre and Jessop House.  We also have an 
event booked in with the Royal Agricultural University.  

• Station Travel Plans – Travel plans are currently being written for Gloucester, 
Lydney and Cheltenham to help improve access and travel options.  There is a 
stakeholder workshop for Gloucester and Cheltenham stations being held on 27th 
October between 2pm and 5pm.  The Lydney station travel plan is currently in its 
final draft stage after being reviewed by stakeholders.  Quick wins have been 
identified at Lydney station including the introduction of cycle parking.  Station 
Travel Plans are also being completed for Cam & Dursley and Ashchurch for 
Tewkesbury stations by Harris Ethical.  

• Rugby World Cup (RWC) Travel Support – Support was offered to England 
Rugby regarding the transport preparation and planning for the games.  Last 
match was on Sunday 11th October.  On match days support has been given 
directly to Phil Cameron in the transport hub.  No major incidents have occurred.  
Social media outlets have been used to warn and prepare those attending and 
local residents of any potential delays.  

3.2 Public Transport (update) 

• Cabinet has approved a county-wide consultation on possible changes to local 
bus services including consideration of the focus of the discretionary element of 
our concessionary fares scheme and of the support given to Park and Ride.  This 
started on 6th September and will run until 4th January.  Local engagement 
sessions are being organised along with supermarket drop-ins.  

• Cotswold Green – a small bus company serving the Stroud Valleys – has stated 
its intention to hand in a number of contracts on 2/1/16 as they are financially 
unsustainable.  The ITU will seek tenders for like-for-like provision over the short 
term while we consider the outcome from the consultation (above).  However 
there is concern about the increased costs for such provision. 

• We are hoping to be able to introduce changes to the 74/77 Cirencester and 
Fairford bus and associated linking services with a view to improving connections 
and serving the new Kingsmeadow estate at Cirencester during November. 

3.3 Gloucester Bus Station (updated) 

• Gloucester City Council has submitted a planning application for the proposed 
changes to the bus station and associated highway network which it hopes could 
be determined by November.  If this proceeds it is likely that the county council 
will be commissioning and delivering the highway works on their behalf. 

3.4 Total Transport Pilot (updated) 

• The Pilot has identified a number of distinct workstreams and will be engaging 
with the third sector and local communities in shaping provision around need.     

Page 24



The DfT has agreed we can work beyond the Stroud district where opportunities 
arise.  One such workstream involves Cirencester Hospital where we are hoping 
to provide improved access by public transport while providing links to local care 
homes and communities.  

4 Planning Authority 

4.1 Joint Core Strategy (update) 

• The Pre-Submission Draft Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury Joint Core 
Strategy (GCT-JCS) has undergone public consultation from 30th June 2014 to 
18th August 2014.  The Council submitted a formal response.  Following 
consideration of the consultation responses received, the three local authorities 
submitted the Submission Version GCT-JCS to the Secretary of State on 20th 
November 2014.  The JCS Examination started on 19th May 2015 and is currently 
ongoing.  The Council has provided specific information to the Examination 
Inspector, including further written representations on various matters, a position 
statement on strategic highways modelling, a Duty to Cooperate paper and an 
agreed Statement of Common Ground.  This was discussed and agreed with 
Lead Cabinet Members.  We are due to field officers at the Examination to deal 
with transport/ highways and infrastructure issues, likely to be spring 2016. 

4.2 Javelin Park (no change) 

• The Secretary of State has approved the construction of the Energy from Waste 
facility, announced on 7th January.  This decision was subject to a High Court 
Challenge submitted by Stroud District Council.  The High Court challenge was 
dismissed in July 2015. 

4.3 Minerals Local Plan (MLP) – additional public consultation (update) 

• A full draft MLP is under preparation and is expected to undergo public 
consultation in early 2016; 

• An updated version of the Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (MWDS) has 
been published on the Council website.  This provides a timetable of proposed 
policy preparation by the Council and will be active until the next required review 
in 2017. 

4.4 ‘Fracking’ – Habitats Regulations Assessment of Oil And Gas Licensing (update) 

• The consultation on the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) for the 14th 
onshore oil and gas licensing round covering several parts of England including 
Gloucestershire has now closed. GCC officers finalised and sent off a response to 
the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) on 22nd September 2015. 
This recommended that a more expansive caveat needed to be applied to any 
licences issued.  This would make oil or gas companies aware of the potential 
effects upon European Sites that were not close to exploration and exploitation 
areas.  It was asserted that there may be circumstances where vulnerable natural 
features could be affected at some distance away, both horizontally or vertically 
from the immediate area of oil and gas activities.  This would concern those 
European Sites having conservation objectives with a dependence on water 
resources or adjoining bat roosting and foraging habitats being kept in favourable 
condition. Such vulnerabilities would need to be considered in detail as part of 
any project for oil or gas exploration or exploitation in the County. If such projects 
came forward they would require planning consent from GCC (as Mineral 
Planning Authority) to be able to be implemented. 

Page 25



4.5 GCC Membership of the Devon & Severn Inshore Fisheries & Conservation Authority 
(D&S IFCA – no change) 

• A reply to the Leader of the Council’s request for a review of Gloucestershire’s 
inclusion in the D&S IFCA has now been received from Defra but it is not the 
detailed reply we had expected.  

• Minister George Eustice MP has said he believes it was right to include GCC in 
the D&S IFCA and goes on to simply say that Gloucestershire has a European 
Marine Site in its area and also some sea fish and nursery areas present. He 
does not say in his letter why he disagrees with GCC’s, and consultant Thomson 
Ecology’s view, that these factors are not significant. 

• The Minister’s letter does however make an offer for Defra to Chair a special 
meeting of all D&S IFCA members to look at the levy GCC pays as a member of 
the fisheries authority. It is hard to see other members agreeing to a much 
reduced levy figure such as from 14% to less than 5% (which the lowest 
contributing Local Authorities pay). Such a reduction would increase costs for the 
other voting members and/or result in a significant reduction of the total D&S 
IFCA budget. 

• Officers are currently liaising with the Leader of the Council, Lead member on this 
matter Cllr. Waddington and local MPs to see if the next step may be to accept 
the offer of a special D&S IFCA meeting so that the matter can at least be 
discussed in more detail against the available evidence with Defra officials in 
attendance. 

5 Lead Local Flood Authority 

5.1 Delivering Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) (update) 

• Gloucestershire County Council is the LLFA and therefore has a duty to provide 
substantive responses to consultation referrals within 21 days on major 
applications received by the Local Planning Authority (LPA).  

• At 13th October 2015 we received 110 referrals since the introduction of these 
new responsibilities.  In addition to the work required to provide advice on 
planning applications we are also receiving a significant amount of follow up 
communication with developers and their representatives relating to clarification 
and additional information. 

• We are also dealing with enquiries from Members, residents and lobby groups 
relating to complaints and requests for information citing flood risk issues as part 
of their objections to development. 

5.2 Tidal Lagoons (update) 

• DECC has approved the Swansea Bay lagoon project, pioneered by Gloucester 
Docks-based company Tidal Lagoon Power (TLP), which could save more than 
236,000 tonnes of carbon emissions each year.  DECC is also keen to see 5 
further lagoon projects developed, 3 of which are in Wales and the South West – 
Cardiff, Newport and Bridgewater. 

• The Council is hosting a briefing on 4th November 2015 involving TLP and other 
key agencies/ organisations, to better understand the potential benefits / impacts 
for Gloucestershire.  Invites have been sent to all County Council Members, to all 
Glos. district councils and to neighbouring local authorities. 

6 Economic Growth/ Local Enterprise Partnership 

6.1 Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) Development (update) 

• As the Accountable Body for the Growth Fund, the Council continues to work with 
the Local Enterprise Partnership (gfirst LEP) in support of the implementation of 

Page 26



the Gloucestershire SEP, with the current focus being on taking the first phase of 
delivery projects through the due diligence process and onto formal funding 
award.   

• A number of Member-based groupings are in place to oversee the commissioning 
and delivery of the SEP/Growth Deal within the County, including the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) and 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee.  Both these forums are 
turning their attention to considering the broader economic growth needs of the 
County and, in particular, enabling infrastructure requirements in preparation for 
possible future rounds of investment fund negotiation/devolution opportunities 
with Government.   

6.2 GFirst LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership) Ltd (no change) 

• GFirst LEP is fully operational as a Community Interest Company (CIC)  

• The Leader is the Council’s representative on the GFirst LEP Board. 

• More information on GFirst LEP can be found at http://www.gfirst.co.uk/ 

6.3 The Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) (update) 

• The GEGJC role is to oversee and co-ordinate the contribution of the 7 Councils 
to the SEP and its implementation.   

• The next meeting is being held on 9th December and will discuss progress with 
the preparation of the Gloucestershire Infrastructure Investment Plan, as well as 
the Council’s devolution proposals. 

• Meeting papers and minutes can be found at: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=725&Year=0 

6.4 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (update) 

• Under the Chairmanship of Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, the next meeting of the Joint 
Scrutiny Committee will be on the 16th November.  This will be a single agenda 
item meeting focusing on how recent Growth Deal investments aim to address 
skills/training gaps in the County.  The Committee is also maintaining a watching 
brief on the state of mobile phone coverage in the County, in support of the recent 
County Council motion and hopes to facilitate a meeting with the Mobile Network 
Operators in the New Year. 

• Meeting papers and minutes can be found at: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=725&Year=0 

6.5 GCC LEP Accountable Body (update) 

• Acting as the Accountable Body, the Council is continuing to enable the 
appraisal/due diligence of the Growth Deal projects, organising the issuing of 
formal grant offer letters and the setting up/management of appropriate funding 
agreements with the project promoters, consistent with the Local Assurance 
Framework. 

• In addition and at the direction of Gfirst LEP, the Accountable Body has loaned/ 
committed £13.05m to 5 schemes through the ‘revolving’ Gloucestershire 
Infrastructure Investment Fund (GIIF).  Over 25% of the funds invested have now 
been repaid and, consequently, the LEP Investment Panel is reviewing the 
forward investment strategy.   

6.6 Superfast Broadband update – building ‘Fastershire’ (update) 

• Further to the presentation update provided to the last Scrutiny meeting by 
representatives of the Fastershire Project Team, the physical build has now 
installed over 1,000km of network and passed over 55,000 premises in 
Gloucestershire with fibre.  Take up figures also continue to rise and with the 
deployment programme due to complete in Gloucestershire by next Spring, BT 

Page 27



are pumping in additional resources for civils activity, whilst also focusing on their 
contractual obligation to improve Universal Service Coverage (USC: 2 Mbps) 
capability across 100% of the project intervention area. 

• Further information can be found on the project website – www.fastershire.com. 

7 Fire and Rescue Authority 

7.1 Draft Statement of Assurance for 2014/15 (new item) 

• This has been published on the Council’s website, with a link available under 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/membersmatter.  

• This is the third year in which the County Council, as Fire Authority, has produced 
this retrospective report.  It brings together key governance, performance, 
financial and operational information relating to Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service during 2014/15. 

• Please email any comments by 5pm on Wednesday 4th November 2015 to:  
o Stewart Edgar (Chief Fire Officer, stewart.edgar@glosfire.gov.uk) or  
o Philip Williams (Lead Commissioner Community Infrastructure, 

philip.williams@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

• It is proposed that the final document will be published by the end of November 
after a formal decision by the Lead Cabinet Member. 

8 Climate Change 

8.1 Renewable Energy Generation on the Council’s Estate (update) 

• In July, Cabinet approved the strategy for the development of ground-mounted 
photovoltaic (PV) renewable energy generation facilities on Council-owned land, 
subject to the economic business case for each site and in light of the 
Government consultation (published on the same day) reviewing subsidy for PV. 

• The Government proposes to bring forward closure of the Renewables Obligation 
(RO) to March 2016, review RO Certificates rates and cut subsidy under the 
Feed-in Tariff by 87%, which would mean the proposed approach would no longer 
be economically viable. 

• The Council has responded to the consultations, seeking for the RO to continue 
to March 2017, on the basis that: 
o We expect to have secured both planning approvals and grid connections 

before the existing closure period of March 2017, enabling potentially 
significant revenue income to offset financial pressures on the Council. 

o Feedback from Gloucestershire residents under the Council’s ‘Together We 
Can’ consultation in 2014/15 included that the Council should explore 
opportunities to raise revenue from our assets. 

o On 18th February 2015, Council approved £12.79m capital invest-to-save 
funding for investment in ground-mounted solar on its rural tenant farms. 

o The Government’s proposals, if implemented, will make these proposed sites 
uneconomic, meaning the Council will not realise the potential income and will 
instead have to make additional savings elsewhere. 

o The Council agrees that costs have reduced significantly, but strongly refutes 
that the market for solar is commercially viable without Government subsidy; 
market feedback is that at least a further 2 years subsidy is required.  There is 
a significant risk that the impact on the industry from early closure will reduce 
competition and increase installation costs, further delaying the point when 
schemes can be economically viable and subsidy free. 
 

Page 28



• In light of this, the ground-mounted work has been paused, pending the outcome 
of the consultations, to minimise abortive costs.  The potential of renewable 
energy generation technologies will be reappraised over the next few months to 
understand the options available. 

• We expect the outcome of the consultations to be confirmed in the Government 
Budget Autumn Statement later in November and although there have been 
announcements of job losses in the solar industry sector we are not aware of any 
changes to the proposals in the consultation. 

• Internationally the costs of solar continue to fall, although the cost of grid 
connection is particularly high locally.  It is feasible that sites within 
Gloucestershire may become economic without Government subsidy in 2-4 years, 
especially with the developments in energy storage that would enable energy to 
be stored onsite and sold to the grid at peak demand. 

Contact Officer 
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure 
nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk, 01452 328470 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY REVIEW – ONE PAGE STATEGY 

  

Broad Topic Area Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Specific topic area 
Investigation into both safety and congestion on the A429 Fosse Way 
throughout Gloucestershire 

Ambitions for the review 

a) To promote road safety; 
b) To suggest ways that pinch points on the A429 can be 

addressed; 
c) To establish better road signage and ensure its continuing 

maintenance; 
d) To consider the strategic role of the A429 in providing access to 

the Cotswolds and the impact of new development; 
e) To explore wider funding opportunities for road and allied 

transport investment bearing in mind the role of the A429 in 
fostering economic development. 

What are the current issues 

• Network resilience and need to identify vulnerable parts of the 

transport network; 

• Current plans do not recognize the impact of traffic congestion 

and how it is inhibiting economic growth, especially in the 

tourism sector; 

• Published traffic data under-estimates traffic congestion in the 

North Cotswolds; 

• Need for better estimates of actual traffic flows on the Fosse 

including HGV`s as well as traffic accident data. 

 

• Need to consider public transport improvements at Moreton and 

Kingham stations as well as re-opening Chipping Camden 

station together with bus transport improvements in order to 

relieve congestion on the A429; 

• Need to identify Cirencester as an important nodal/pinch point 

in the highway network, and the significance of the Cirencester 

ring road to the free flow of traffic which requires the upgrading 

of that road. 

 

• Need to consider cycle routes and how these could relieve 

congestion on the A429; 

• The cleaning of signs along its length has only happened when 

raised repeatedly by the county councillor for the division and 

the process needs addressing; 

• The state of the road surface – plans going ahead with 

timescales and the process for rectifying surface issues; 

 

• Speed of some vehicles, especially motor bikes; 

• Accident rates along the road and how to create and promote 

better road safety along its length to minimise the risk of 

accidents. 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 31



Who and how should we consult? 

Convene a series of meetings and invite as appropriate:  

Gloucestershire Highways Development Management 

Gloucestershire Road Safety Partnership 

Amey 

Network Rail 

District/Parish Councils 

Local Enterprise Partnership 

Gloucestershire Police 

Gloucestershire Fire Service 

Support 
Kath Haworth : Area Highway Manager East 

Jo Moore : Senior Democratic Services Adviser 

How long will it take? 

November 2015 – Agree terms of reference /submit request to OSMC; 

December 2015 – Establish task group/agree membership; 

Jan – March 2016 – Evidence gathering meetings; 

March 2016 – Final report to ECOSC (9
th
 March ) and OSMC ( 18

th
 

March ); 

April 2016 – Make recommendations to Cabinet. 

Budget 
Costs of the work of the task group to come from Local Highways and 
Highways Community Budgets. 

Outcomes 
a) To better understand the issues affecting safety and congestion 

on the A429 throughout Gloucestershire; 

 
b) To make recommendations for the future on ways of 

addressing these issues; 

 
c) To ensure future reviews of the Local Transport Plan provides 

sufficient policy context and includes priorities for investment 
when reviewing the transport infrastructure for the A429 ; 

 
d) To advise on what wider funding opportunities for road and 

allied transport investment in the A429 Corridor may be 
available. 

 

Page 32


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Fire Scrutiny Workshop - Report

	6 Chief Fire Officer Report
	7 Commissioning Directors Report
	Commissioning Directors Report - 041115

	9 Work Plan

